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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Welcome to the

          3  Aging Committee meeting. My name is Brother Ruben

          4  Diaz. I am the Chair, or I have been the Chair of

          5  this Committee for the past year, since January 1st

          6  of this year.

          7                 Today we are conducting this meeting

          8  and it brings mixed feelings to me. It will be my

          9  last meeting as the Chair of this Committee, and my

         10  last meeting as a member of the City Council.

         11                 This is my going away meeting.

         12  Starting January 1st I will be acting as a New York

         13  State Senator, and today I would like to tell my

         14  colleagues, the members of this Committee, that it

         15  has been a pleasure and been an honor to serve with

         16  you and to serve as Chair of this Committee.

         17                 To Cheree' Buggs, have been an honor

         18  working with you. Thank you for all your help and

         19  thank you for all your support and your

         20  understanding.

         21                 Today, in the final Committee hearing

         22  of the year, we will focus on a growing problem in

         23  the senior community. It is financial exploitation.

         24                 According to the New York State

         25  Attorney General's Office, 63 percent of elder abuse
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          2  cases in New York City involve financial

          3  exploitation. Our hearing today is two-fold: One, to

          4  explore the resources available for financially

          5  exploited or abused singles; and, two, to hear

          6  testimony about Resolution Number 546, which

          7  supports two pending bills in the Senate, and in the

          8  State Legislature, seeking to include the crime of

          9  financial exploitation of the elderly. Among the

         10  witnesses today are the New York City Department for

         11  the Aging, and the various District Attorneys

         12  Offices in the City.

         13                 From the Department for the Aging we

         14  will look to hear what programs and resources are

         15  available to assist elderly victims of financial

         16  abuse. From the DAs' offices we will look to hear

         17  the position on Resolution No. 546 which supports

         18  Assembly Bill A.2851 and State Senate Bill S.3279.

         19  Both bills will amend the penal law to criminalize

         20  the wrongful taking from mentally impaired persons,

         21  many of whom are senior citizens.

         22                 Our seniors are a vital part of New

         23  York, and we must do all we can to protect them. It

         24  is with this in mind that the Committee today

         25  addresses the very serious issue of financial
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          2  exploitation.

          3                 Today I have been joined by the

          4  Chairman of the Subcommittee on the Aging, my good

          5  friend Michael Nelson, and I don't know if you want

          6  to say anything.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I would like

          8  to congratulate the Chair, who has headed this

          9  Committee so ably for the last year, his sage

         10  council and his compassion, everything he took

         11  towards the seniors' issue was always done but his

         12  main agenda was always what would be for the

         13  betterment of senior citizens.

         14                 So, I'd like to say that the Senate's

         15  gain, and they are gaining, is going to be the

         16  Council's loss. So, I thank you very much, Reverend

         17  Ruben Diaz.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

         19                 I also would like to say that since I

         20  took over this Committee, I think this is the only

         21  Committee in the City Council that has been

         22  conducting public hearings outside the City Council

         23  in all boroughs. This Committee have been honored to

         24  take all the members of the Committee to the Bronx,

         25  Manhattan, Queens and Brooklyn. The only Borough
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          2  that we didn't go was Staten Island, and that was

          3  because I have no requests from the Council Member

          4  from Staten Island Delegation to bring the Committee

          5  there. If I would have a request from Staten Island

          6  Delegation, I would have bring the Committee also to

          7  Staten Island. But all boroughs this Committee went,

          8  outside this room, outside this building, and we

          9  conduct a hearing in all of the boroughs taking the

         10  Council to the senior citizens, preventing them from

         11  the hassle of taking the subway and trains to come

         12  here, so we went to them.

         13                 We're going to start taking testimony

         14  today, but before I would like also to thank Bernice

         15  Spitzer. She is the press secretary of the Aging

         16  Committee and for one year she has been wonderful

         17  helping this Committee, helping this Chair, and I

         18  would like to spread my appreciation.

         19                 Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year

         20  to you.

         21                 And also Steve Solomon from the

         22  Finance. Steve, thank you for all your support. And

         23  from the Mayor's Office, Al Mullen, always there

         24  representing the Mayor, and supporting this

         25  Committee. Thank you.
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          2                 We're going to start with the hearing

          3  today and the first person that I would like to call

          4  is Donna Anderson from the Department for the Aging.

          5  Is she here? Oh, Aurora Salamone, okay. Good

          6  morning.

          7                 Thank you for coming to the meeting.

          8                 MS. SALAMONE: Good morning. I am

          9  Aurora Salamone, the Director of the Elderly Crimes

         10  Victims Resource Center at the Department for the

         11  Aging. I would like to thank Reverend Diaz and the

         12  Aging Committee for inviting us to testify here

         13  today, an unfortunate, yet widely under-reported

         14  problem, financial exploitation of the elderly.

         15                 Losing the fruits of a lifetime's

         16  labor through financial exploitation can be

         17  devastating. It may compromise victims' independence

         18  and security, destroy legacies and lead to

         19  depression and other health-related events.

         20                 Although financial crimes are

         21  committed against members of all age groups, the

         22  impact is particularly great on the elderly, who are

         23  often unable to replace lost assets through work,

         24  savings or investments.

         25                 Financial crimes expand the spectrum
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          2  from telemarketing scams, the misuse of power of

          3  attorney, confidence crimes and illegal transfer of

          4  property.

          5                 Perpetrators include family members,

          6  predatory individuals and unscrupulous businesses.

          7                 Although anyone and everyone are

          8  vulnerable, the elderly are at particularly high

          9  risk.

         10                 Many seniors live alone, which

         11  shields abusers from scrutiny and insulates victims

         12  from those who can help. Cognitively impaired

         13  individuals who lack surrogate decision-makers are

         14  particularly susceptible to certain crimes like the

         15  surreptitious transfer of property or assets. As a

         16  result of physical impairment and disability, many

         17  seniors rely on others for assistance. Their

         18  caregivers often have access to financial

         19  information, documents and valuables. This intimacy,

         20  proximity and dependency that the care-giving

         21  relationship engenders place unscrupulous caregivers

         22  in disturbingly opportune positions to exercise

         23  coercion, subtle influence and outright control.

         24                 Many elderly victims fail to report

         25  crimes or abuse to the police or even to their own
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          2  family members out of shame or embarrassment. Some

          3  want to stop the exploitation and recover their

          4  assets, but are less interested in seeing

          5  perpetrators punished.

          6                 Many have close ties or relationships

          7  to their abusers, which they want to preserve. They

          8  may want to protect abusive family members,

          9  particularly when the abuser is a troubled son or

         10  daughter.

         11                 Other fail to report because they

         12  don't want to draw attention to the fact that they

         13  are having problems managing on their own and fear

         14  that disclosure will result in nursing home

         15  placement or guardianship.

         16                 Because victims are often induced to

         17  cooperate in their own exploitation, they may

         18  believe that they are fully or partially to blame

         19  for their victimization. Many people do, in fact,

         20  blame victims or hold them responsible, assuming

         21  that they brought this problem upon themselves

         22  through greed, imprudence or naivetivity (sic). The

         23  reality is more complex.

         24                 When victims do come forward to

         25  report financial crimes, the results are often
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          2  disappointing. Physical or cognitively impaired

          3  seniors often find the criminal justice system

          4  incomprehensible and inaccessible. Particularly

          5  frail victims are likely to decline, become

          6  incapacitated, or die during the course of

          7  protracting proceedings and it is not uncommon for

          8  cases to continue for years, particularly when the

          9  defendant must be extradited. Victims with

         10  diminished mental capacity who are unable to recall

         11  details of crime or to explain the true impact the

         12  crime has on their lives may be poor witnesses. As a

         13  result of these problems, many cases go

         14  unprosecuted.

         15                 The emergence of increasingly complex

         16  and technologically sophisticated new varieties of

         17  exploitation is signaled by the recent surge in

         18  crimes involving the internet, electronic transfers

         19  of money, and the intercepting and compromising of

         20  victims' financial identities.

         21                 Preventing financial crimes will be a

         22  great challenge, both for the Department for the

         23  Aging and to the law enforcement community. It is

         24  clear that effective prevention will require

         25  cooperation between all levels of law enforcement,
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          2  including local state and federal jurisdictions.

          3                 The civil system, which provides

          4  additional vehicles for stopping abuse and

          5  recovering assets, must also be involved. Victim

          6  advocates must be enlisted to ensure that victims'

          7  rights are protected, barriers are removed, and

          8  victims have adequate incentives to participate in

          9  the process. The resources of each of these systems

         10  must be coordinated to optimize their effectiveness.

         11                 The Department for the Aging's

         12  Elderly Crime Victims Resource Center has

         13  successfully implemented elder abuse services

         14  throughout the five boroughs. The Elderly Crime

         15  Victims Resource Center began assisting crime

         16  victims in 1978 and elder abuse victims in 1986. The

         17  Center receives daily referrals from community

         18  social service agencies, hospitals, private

         19  physicians, attorneys and the general public

         20  regarding elderly victims.

         21                 The unit's primarily bilingual staff

         22  can address language barriers, as well. Case workers

         23  provide both telephone consultations to

         24  professionals contending with elder abuse situations

         25  and counseling services to victims of abuse. These
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          2  case workers have established relationships with an

          3  intergenerational (sic) groups of service providers

          4  and public agencies in all five boroughs, such as

          5  the New York City Police Department Domestic

          6  Violence Officers and the Crime Prevention Officers,

          7  the DAs' Office, Adult Protective Services, Safe

          8  Horizon and the Department for the Aging funded

          9  social service agencies to whom they refer clients

         10  in need of legal and social intervention.

         11                 Looking at 2,486 cases of elder abuse

         12  that came to the Department's Elderly Crime Victims

         13  Center, we found that 49 percent of these cases were

         14  financial exploitation cases.

         15                 To this end, the Department for the

         16  Aging initiated and assisted the New York City

         17  Police Department with the development of "Interim

         18  Order Number 54." For the first time in the history

         19  of the police, Interim Order Number 54 requires the

         20  Police Department to record, and in appropriate

         21  circumstances, commence an investigation for those

         22  cases where a caseworker employed either by HRA's

         23  Adult Protective Services and/or the Department for

         24  the Aging is presented with facts and circumstances

         25  giving the caseworker reason to conclude that a

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  crime has been committed against a client or any

          3  person being evaluated to become a client. This

          4  order covers two types of victims: Impaired Adults

          5  and Elder Abuse. The order allows the Police

          6  Department to make follow-up referrals to either HRA

          7  and/or to the Department for the Aging regarding

          8  social services for any victims' they uncover.

          9                 In the winter of 2002, the New York

         10  City Department for the Aging received a small grant

         11  from the State Office on Aging which allowed us to

         12  conduct a total of 75 workshops to seniors in all of

         13  the five boroughs entitled "Financial Abuse and

         14  Consumer Fraud Prevention." These workshops were

         15  conducted in both English and in Spanish. The

         16  training was approximately 90 minutes in length and

         17  included some of the following topics:

         18                 Factors that may lead to financial

         19  abuse, Consumer Fraud, Scams and Con Artists - How

         20  you can prevent the con artist from taking your

         21  money; Discussion of the New York State Laws that

         22  address telemarketing crimes, Joint Bank Accounts:

         23  Dangers and Benefits, what is the Power of Attorney;

         24  how do you undo a Power of Attorney; how can the

         25  police, District Attorney's Office and courts help?
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          2  These are just some of the topics that were covered.

          3  The Department was able to reach more than 2,000

          4  seniors Citywide.

          5                 The Training Manual developed for

          6  these workshops are available to the public in

          7  English, Spanish and Russian. They will also be

          8  available soon in Chinese.

          9                 The Department also publishes a handy

         10  booklet entitled "Taking Care of Business:

         11  Protecting Yourself and Your Assets." This has been

         12  widely distributed to our senior centers, case

         13  management agencies, to our homebound clients and to

         14  the general public affairs and conferences. The

         15  booklet is in Russian, Chinese, Spanish and English.

         16                 In order to address the increasing

         17  concerns regarding elder abuse services in New York

         18  City, the Department for the Aging in October of

         19  2002 awarded elder abuse contracts to nine programs.

         20                 Two contracts were awarded for each

         21  of the boroughs, except for Staten Island where only

         22  one contract was awarded.

         23                 The nine new programs will use their

         24  grant funds to:

         25                 Number one: Help the elderly victims
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          2  of abuse in their catchment area to continue to live

          3  safely and free from abuse while maintaining power

          4  and control of their daily living. This will be

          5  accomplished by working with the client in pursuing

          6  all legal and social service avenues.

          7                 Number two: Develop a

          8  multi-disciplinary partnership to coordinate and

          9  improve the delivery of services needed by the

         10  elderly victim in order to enhance or help maintain

         11  their quality of life.

         12                 Number three: Give attention to

         13  primary prevention of elder abuse, beginning with

         14  educating the elderly person about elder abuse, how

         15  to recognize the risk factors, the options they

         16  have, and where to turn for help.

         17                 Prevention training is a critical

         18  component in fighting our battle with elder abuse,

         19  especially financial abuse. It is so important for

         20  the older person to be taught to understand how the

         21  many factors, alcohol, drug abuse, family history of

         22  violence, et cetera, can indicate a potential for

         23  mistreatment. The older person needs to be taught to

         24  recognize these threats. They need to understand

         25  that before accepting an offer of shelter and care,

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  an individual should assess potentials for

          3  difficulty with caretakers, in terms of physical and

          4  emotional problems and control of financial

          5  resources. They need to be counseled that the

          6  decision about what will happen in the future, or at

          7  least what they want to happen, should be planned

          8  while they are reasonably healthy and vigorous and

          9  have mental capacity to execute a legal document.

         10                 By having these programs provide

         11  options to older persons and their family as

         12  appropriate, our community partners will empower our

         13  seniors to make decisions about their lives and help

         14  decrease their isolation by encouraging them to take

         15  advantage of existing community service and

         16  programs.

         17                 The Department for the Aging has also

         18  received a two-year federal grant from the US

         19  Department of Justice to develop a model training

         20  curriculum that will provide targeted instruction

         21  for law enforcement officers, prosecutors and

         22  relevant court officers to enhance their ability to

         23  recognize, address, investigate and prosecute the

         24  crime of abuse, financial exploitation, and domestic

         25  violence among the elderly and the disabled.
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          2                 I would like to thank the members of

          3  this Committee for convening this important hearing

          4  on an issue of great importance to all of us. I

          5  would like to thank you for inviting us to testify

          6  here today. We look forward to working with this

          7  Committee in supporting legislation that could

          8  create a crime category of financial exploitation of

          9  the elderly and the disabled.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you, Ms.

         11  Salamone?

         12                 MS. SALAMONE: Salamone.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Salamone?

         14                 MS. SALAMONE: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Right. Before I ask

         16  you a question, I would like to ask you to convey my

         17  appreciation to the Commissioner of the Department

         18  Mendez. He has been a good Commissioner. I have been

         19  working with a senior citizen for the past 25 years,

         20  and I have met Commissioner, but some of them have

         21  been good, but Commissioner Mendez have been

         22  outstanding one. He have been a friend of this

         23  Committee, even though today is my last meeting as a

         24  Chair of the Committee, but I already have no

         25  intention of separating myself from your Department.
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          2  I already asked to be included in the Committee of

          3  the Aging of the Senate, with the intention of

          4  keeping, working closely with your Department and

          5  all the senior citizens of the City of New York.

          6                 Now, let me ask you a question here,

          7  please. You said here that "The Department for the

          8  Aging's Elderly Crime Victims Resource Center has

          9  successful implemented elder abuse services

         10  throughout the five boroughs. The Elderly Crime

         11  Victims Resource Center began assisting crime

         12  victims in 1978 and elder abuse...""The Center

         13  receives daily..." Now, are you saying that this

         14  Center conducted, received 2,000 cases, but that one

         15  year, or that since 1978?

         16                 MS. SALAMONE: Oh, no, that's only

         17  within the last year and a half we decided that we

         18  wanted to look at, get a better picture of what type

         19  of client was coming to us in New York City, and

         20  compare it to national, the type of client that is

         21  seen nationally regarding elder abuse and the

         22  comparison is that financial expectation nationally

         23  and Citywide is very high. So, this is a small

         24  sample of clients that we see within our office,

         25  it's not clients that are being provided with
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          2  services around the City.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I'm interested in

          4  these 2,000, looking at 2,486 cases of elderly

          5  abuse. You said these 2,486 cases are in the

          6  previous one year and a half?

          7                 MS. SALAMONE: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Do you have any

          9  data by borough?

         10                 MS. SALAMONE: We don't have that now.

         11                 We will have -- we are developing a

         12  system internally that will be able to break down

         13  per borough, per ethnic group, per age category, per

         14  abuse category boroughwide and Citywide.

         15                 We're in the process of developing it

         16  now with the new nine contractors that we have. They

         17  are generating statistical information to us on a

         18  quarterly basis that will give us a better picture

         19  of what is going on in the City, and by funding

         20  these programs and they're out there, we will be

         21  able to capture that information, which we were not

         22  able to capture before.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: It is important for

         24  us, for the City, for the members of the Committee,

         25  that will be left in this Committee, to find out
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          2  which are the senior that are getting abused the

          3  more - black, Hispanic, white.

          4                 MS. SALAMONE: I can say that now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Who is committing

          6  these abuses.

          7                 MS. SALAMONE: Family. Okay, I can

          8  tell you from the short sample that we study that

          9  it's following demographics within the City. White

         10  clients, white older women, the next category is

         11  black older women, Hispanic and then the Asian

         12  community.

         13                 Perpetrators are usually an adult

         14  male son, white adult male son in his 40s. The

         15  victim is usually an older white woman about 75

         16  years old. The data that we've collected.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: So, you're telling

         18  me that the white seniors are getting abused more

         19  than the black and Hispanic?

         20                 MS. SALAMONE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Really?

         22                 MS. SALAMONE: Well, according to this

         23  sample.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay, anyone has

         25  any questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I just had a

          3  quick question.

          4                 As far as any percentages, or even a

          5  ball park figure, as far as cases referred to the

          6  Elderly Crime Victims Resource Center in the arena

          7  of financial exploitation. In other words, would

          8  that be five percent of the complaints, is there an

          9  idea, to 20 percent?

         10                 MS. SALAMONE: It's 49 percent of that

         11  caseload --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, it is.

         13                 MS. SALAMONE: Is financial

         14  exploitation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Tremendous.

         16                 MS. SALAMONE: But it's also, when

         17  you're looking at statistics, abuse doesn't just

         18  occur in one category, it's usually psychological

         19  abuse coupled with financial abuse, or it could be

         20  psychological abuse coupled with physical abuse. But

         21  financial abuse is the highest category that we're

         22  seeing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Do you have any

         24  data, information about abuses committed by home

         25  attendants workers?
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          2                 MS. SALAMONE: From this sample it's

          3  been very small. Home care workers from our sample

          4  has been very small. The majority of them are people

          5  that are known to the client, and usually a family

          6  member. Because the family member has direct access

          7  to the client's documents, to the client's accounts,

          8  they get themselves --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Are you related

         10  with the penal law of the punishment that's now in

         11  the system for people that commit this kind of

         12  crime?

         13                 MS. SALAMONE: The law that you're

         14  supporting right now?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: No, no. Not the one

         16  we're supporting.

         17                 MS. SALAMONE: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: What's in the

         19  system now.

         20                 MS. SALAMONE: As far as the penal

         21  code, I can't answer that, but I'm sure the DAs' can

         22  answer that question.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay.

         24                 MS. SALAMONE: I'm sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.
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          2                 We have been joined by a member of

          3  the Committee, the honorable Helen Foster from the

          4  Bronx, and the honorable Domenic Recchia from

          5  Brooklyn, and the honorable Kendall Stewart from

          6  Brooklyn, and the honorable Eric Malave-Dilan from

          7  Brooklyn. And my good friend, he love me so much, he

          8  had been sitting next to me for one year, he cannot

          9  see me going in peace. He will not let me go in

         10  peace, so he came here to join my last meeting, to

         11  ask questions and to hold me down here until 3:00 in

         12  the afternoon. Thank you. You have a question?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you very

         14  much. And it is an honor to be here at the Chair's

         15  last meeting, and I look forward to being joined by

         16  another Diaz in the near future.

         17                 Reverend, did you hear me? All right,

         18  in any case. Question: What are the -- what is in

         19  the law to protect the elderly from the financial,

         20  I'll call it financial rate, that takes place by

         21  people that are not living in the United States? And

         22  the example that I'll give you is my Aunt Pearl, who

         23  probably calls me three times a week, no less, three

         24  times, it's the same call, that somebody calls her

         25  and said she won the lottery in Montreal and that
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          2  they want to bring her the check for $1,500,000 and

          3  all she has to do is send them a check for the

          4  transfer fee of $1,500 and the check is in the mail,

          5  and she calls me three times a week probably,

          6  sometimes more, sometimes less, whether she should

          7  do it, and she just, really, she -- and of course, I

          8  say get the number, let them give it to you in

          9  writing, we go through the same thing over and over

         10  again. But is there anything, to your knowledge,

         11  that there's some mechanism where we can stop this.

         12  I mean, they're so vulnerable, and my aunt calls,

         13  I'm sure there are many that don't and one day she's

         14  probably going to say that I'm trying to rip her off

         15  and take the money myself, and she's going to spend

         16  the $1,500 and she's not going to get any help.

         17                 MS. SALAMONE: Well, it's good that

         18  your aunt calls you, because presently the Attorney

         19  General I know you can put in complaints to them and

         20  they make every effort to try and track these kinds

         21  of cases. We have cases where clients, we get

         22  referrals, we have one case in particular that these

         23  people are very wealthy, actually the check cashing

         24  place called us, believe it or not, we were very

         25  surprised that they would call us, that these people
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          2  have been coming in to wire money to Israel, to wire

          3  money to Europe some place and they're very -- these

          4  people obviously have a great deal of money because

          5  the bank has also called us because they don't want

          6  to give them any more money to transfer.

          7                 We have sent staff from community

          8  agencies to these people's home, we've called them.

          9  They told us to mind our own business.

         10                 So, in some sense people have the

         11  right to make stupid mistakes. In other sense, if

         12  the person lacks capacity, then we should step in

         13  and try to prevent them from liquidating all their

         14  assets.

         15                 We made a referral to the Attorney

         16  General's on that client's behalf, regardless if

         17  they wanted our assistance or not, to follow it.

         18  Because we had the name an the address of where this

         19  money was going to.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Is there any

         21  mechanism, and I know these questions probably

         22  should be for the Attorney General, but I may not be

         23  around for that, I apologize; is there any mechanism

         24  where we can offer at least seniors and their

         25  families, the availability of a document where they
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          2  would sign it voluntarily, no one could force them,

          3  that would in essence say, and that would be

          4  followed with their banks, that they have the right

          5  to take out the money, we don't want to take that

          6  away from them in any way, but that substantial

          7  transfers, for example, over X number of dollars,

          8  there would have to be a waiting time of a week or

          9  something like that, so that Aunt Pearl doesn't wake

         10  up one morning, transfer $5,000 and then two days

         11  later tells me she did it and is sorry.

         12                 MS. SALAMONE: Actually clients,

         13  everybody has this option, there is a third-party

         14  notification that clients can sign in the bank. It

         15  really is up to the bank to introduce it to the

         16  client, letting them know that if they want they can

         17  have somebody else notified, in the event that they

         18  see unusual transactions they could have a third

         19  party on there.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I'm asking the

         21  Department of Aging to help us. I mean, I would be

         22  happy to put it in my newsletter, I'm sure my

         23  colleagues would be as well, to offer some kind of

         24  form that would be available to seniors, and the

         25  families would know about it as well, that they
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          2  could initiate, go into the bank, sign this form,

          3  that would say that I don't want any large money

          4  transferred out of my account without the week's

          5  grace period or something like that. I'd like your

          6  help with that, if that's possible.

          7                 MS. SALAMONE: We can certainly look

          8  into it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes, I'd

         10  appreciate that. Can you get back to the chair?

         11                 MS. SALAMONE: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: No? Well, can

         13  you get back to the staff? And I said before that I

         14  look forward to another Diaz joining us, Reverend.

         15  Maybe, right?

         16                 MS. SALAMONE: This doesn't directly

         17  answer your question, but I just happened to know

         18  because we were asked to jointly sponsor a press

         19  conference, which is not happening this week, but

         20  with Consumer Affairs there are these twice a year

         21  State Consumer Affairs, and with the City has these

         22  blackout periods where you can enroll in having

         23  blocks put on your telephone about getting

         24  telemarketing phone calls. And we're trying to do

         25  outreach now to seniors to enroll, to register and
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          2  have your phone number blocked so that you wouldn't

          3  get these calls in the first place, and I think

          4  that's maybe a front line way of trying to stop a

          5  lot of this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I think that we all

          7  are interested in solving this problem, and that's

          8  why we are here today and the main reason we're here

          9  today, other members of the Committee, we worry,

         10  we're taking a vote on Resolution 546, trying to

         11  push the State Senate and the Assembly to push the

         12  bill so we could pick out this problem. So, this

         13  meeting today, I would like to not to hold the

         14  meeting too many details.

         15                 And I would like also to announce

         16  that the resolution that we are voting today, 546,

         17  is being sponsored by Michael Nelson, and prime

         18  sponsor of that resolution, Councilman Addabbo, by

         19  Comrie, Diaz, Gerson, Jackson, Jennings, Liu,

         20  McMahon, Sanders, Sears, Stewart, Vann, Weprin,

         21  Gennaro and Golden, and today I have been asked by

         22  Council Member Domenic Recchia to put his name as a

         23  prime sponsor also of this resolution. So, that's

         24  how we'll do it, okay?

         25                 I would like to also recognize
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          2  Council Member Dennis Gallagher from Queens, who is

          3  a member of the Committee, has joined us.

          4                 Another question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair.

          7                 I have a simple question. We were

          8  just talking about abuse and financial abuse, et

          9  cetera, with the elderly. We have quite a number of

         10  folks, home attendants and companion, et cetera, do

         11  we have any program whereby we can train or teach

         12  these folks how to do proper documentation? Because

         13  some of these seniors may be dependent on these home

         14  attendants, or these people working with them, to

         15  really handle some of their financial affairs. And

         16  if they do not know how to document and to do what

         17  has to be done in the proper manner, they,

         18  themselves, might be leading to doing abusive

         19  practices.

         20                 And, so, we want to have it on a

         21  balanced kiel whereby we don't have people just

         22  abusing the authority to control one's funds.

         23                 So, is there any form of training,

         24  any form of training to protect these folks? Do you

         25  have that?
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          2                 MS. SALAMONE: Are you asking about

          3  protecting the clients or the --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, the

          5  client, yes, but we're talking about training so

          6  that these seniors are not abused. Because sometimes

          7  some seniors may, because of their age and their

          8  mental status, they may be asking for everything in

          9  the world, and this worker might just oblige and try

         10  to do what that senior is asking, and because

         11  they're not documented, they're not trained to do

         12  anything properly and in form, they might be somehow

         13  charged for abusive behavior.

         14                 So, I just want to make sure that

         15  both sides, you know, at least the worker is

         16  somewhat trained and know how to document what

         17  they're doing, and at least have some sort of a

         18  guideline to handle the job properly.

         19                 If there's a program that says that

         20  these people can be trained, I would like to know.

         21                 MS. SALAMONE: Okay. Most of the home

         22  attendant services are either private or they come

         23  through HRA.

         24                 Now, all of the home attendants have

         25  to have certain certifications and they go through a
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          2  series of training and they also are trained to work

          3  with difficult clients, there are seniors who are

          4  difficult and lack capacity so it becomes even more

          5  of a challenge for the home attendant to be able to

          6  perform what they need to do for the client.

          7                 And they could be accused of

          8  wrongdoing when in actuality it's not the case.

          9                 Many of these agencies have called us

         10  to come in and do a short training.

         11                 I believe every year they go through

         12  a series of training because the Department of

         13  Health requires them to get, to keep their

         14  certification. So, they call us and I will send

         15  staff to these trainings to help them to identify

         16  abuse in the manner that if somebody else in the

         17  household is doing it, where they can call, and what

         18  they should do if they see it, and how they should

         19  handle certain situations when clients are confused.

         20                 All of the agencies really do tell

         21  their home attendants that they should not be

         22  negotiating money for them. Unfortunately, in many

         23  of these cases there is no one else to do it for

         24  them so the home attendant does write checks or goes

         25  to the bank with them and can be falsely accused.
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          2                 So, during our trainings we do try to

          3  help them understand what they should look out for.

          4                 We don't tell them that they can't

          5  negotiate for the client because that's really not

          6  our role to tell them to do that. The agency tells

          7  them not to do that. But, again, because the client

          8  is in a situation, has no other person to do it, the

          9  home attendant is left doing it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: In that light

         11  then, who is responsible for certification of these

         12  workers? And do they have any program within their

         13  training to teach them about that aspect of help for

         14  the seniors?

         15                 MS. SALAMONE: All of the home

         16  attendant programs, sponsor agencies are responsible

         17  for providing training.

         18                 They are certified, they are checked

         19  by the Department of Health. It's the Department of

         20  Health, as well as HRA.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So what are

         22  you saying, you're not too sure whether any form of

         23  that training is there? That's what you're saying?

         24                 MS. SALAMONE: I'm saying they all are

         25  required to have training. It's really up to the
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          2  agency.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I want you to make

          5  it brief.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Very brief

          7  question. As far as the elimination of DFTA's Safe

          8  Streets Program, how will this impact upon those

          9  financially exploited seniors?

         10                 MS. SALAMONE: We're working with the

         11  existing programs now actually to talk about how

         12  we're going to wind down and how we're going to try

         13  and continue services without the funding.

         14                 So, working with the existing police

         15  precincts where we've had programs, working with the

         16  existing social service agencies, trying to work

         17  with other agencies in the community that are doing

         18  INR. Some of the clients will get absorbed into our

         19  elderly crime victims resource centers and we're

         20  hoping that people won't fall through cracks, so

         21  we're doing everything we can to assure a

         22  continuation of services.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You have a

         24  contingency plan afoot. Okay, we'll all have to work

         25  on that one. Thank you.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Council Member

          4  Dilan has a question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay. Thank you.

          7                 MS. SALAMONE: We wish you good luck

          8  in your future career.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you. Happy

         10  New Year, Merry Christmas. Happy holidays to you.

         11                 MS. SALAMONE: You too.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you. My

         13  regard to the Commissioner, please.

         14                 We are going to call the

         15  representatives of the DAs offices, the five

         16  boroughs, and then after that we will be taking our

         17  vote.

         18                 We have Elizabeth Loewy, from the

         19  Manhattan DA's Office. We have Melissa Jackson, from

         20  the Brooklyn District Attorney's Office, and Brian

         21  J. Mich from Queens DA's Office. My borough

         22  representative? You're from my borough, right?

         23                 MR. BAKER: The Bronx.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Yes, my borough

         25  have to be here.
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          2                 I don't have your name.

          3                 MR. BAKER: Richard Baker.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Baker. Richard

          5  Baker, from the Bronx DA's Office.

          6                 Is Staten Island here? Okay.

          7                 Who are we starting with?

          8                 MS. LOEWY: I'll start, I guess.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay.

         10                 MS. LOEWY: Good morning. My name is

         11  Elizabeth Loewy. I'm the Attorney-in-Charge of the

         12  Elder Abuse Unit at the New York County District

         13  Attorney's Office, and Chair of the New York State

         14  District Attorneys Association's Legislative

         15  Subcommittee on Elder Abuse.

         16                 I will be speaking today on behalf of

         17  the District Attorneys of New York, the Bronx,

         18  Queens and Richmond Counties, and I'm joined here

         19  today by Richard Baker of Bronx County, District

         20  Attorney's Office, and Brian Mich, from the Queens

         21  County District Attorney's Office.

         22                 I'd like to begin by thanking you,

         23  Reverend Diaz, and the Council's Committee on Aging

         24  for inviting me to speak here today to address the

         25  important issue of financial abuse of the elderly.

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 The New York County, Bronx County,

          3  Queens County and Richmond County District

          4  Attorney's Offices support this resolution and the

          5  legislation contained therein.

          6                 The proposed legislation has also

          7  been endorsed by the New York State District

          8  Attorney's Association, and the New York State Law

          9  Enforcement Council.

         10                 According to the New York Times, 1

         11  million people now turn 60 every month, which means

         12  that for the first time in history, elderly people

         13  will out-number the young.

         14                 In New York City 12 percent of the

         15  population is 65 years of age or older and six

         16  percent of the population is 75 years old or older.

         17                 Over one-third of Older Americans had

         18  difficulty in carrying out regular activities of

         19  daily living, such as shopping preparing meals, or

         20  managing money.

         21                 Many of these seniors rely on family

         22  members, neighbors or caretakers to assist them with

         23  their daily tasks.

         24                 Unfortunately, as the number of

         25  potential victims rises, so, too, does the number of
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          2  exploiters.

          3                 Elder abuse cases may go unreported

          4  because victims are physically or mentally unable to

          5  summon help. They may be vulnerable due to an

          6  age-related mental disease or the influence of

          7  doctor-prescribed medication. All too often these

          8  victims are completely dependent on an exploiter who

          9  may be the only other witness to the crime.

         10                 Police and prosecutors define elder

         11  abuse as any crime or violation involving a victim

         12  who is 60 years of age or older. It can take a

         13  number of forms, including physical, sexual,

         14  financial or emotional abuse.

         15                 However, of these, financial

         16  exploitation is surely the most common and the most

         17  difficult to detect.

         18                 The New York State Department of

         19  Social Services, which is now the Office of Children

         20  and Family Services, has determined that financial

         21  exploitation is the most prevalent type of abuse.

         22                 Although the elderly are not alone in

         23  their vulnerability to financial exploitation, older

         24  adults are the most likely target for these kinds of

         25  crimes.
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          2                 In New York County alone nearly 600

          3  cases involving victims over age 60 are prosecuted

          4  each year, and this number does not reflect the

          5  ever-growing number of senior victims who are

          6  financially exploited, but whose cases cannot be

          7  proven because of issues related to the senior's

          8  mental capacity.

          9                 As a person ages, she may decide to

         10  grant a family member, caretaker, friend or home

         11  aid, the authority to handle her assets in order to

         12  obtain assistance with purchases, bill paying or

         13  money management.

         14                 The trusted individual may have

         15  permission to access the older person's accounts on

         16  her behalf. In most instances this access is

         17  exercised responsibly. However, this is not always

         18  the case. The individual may exploit this trust and

         19  seize the opportunity to steal from the older

         20  person, depleting her life savings. If the elderly

         21  victim is not mentally impaired and is able to

         22  testify about the unauthorized transfer, then the

         23  case is prosecuted as a larceny, pursuant to Section

         24  155 of the penal law.

         25                 And the issue of whether the elderly
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          2  victim consented to the taking would be comparable

          3  to cases involving younger adult victims of theft

          4  who are competent to testify.

          5                 The story changes completely when the

          6  elderly victim suffers from mental impairment. If

          7  she has dementia, her memory, insight and judgment

          8  will be affected.

          9                 The victim may be confused about the

         10  fact that her funds were taken, or she may have been

         11  convinced by the caretaker to gift large amounts of

         12  money.

         13                 Obviously the affect of this

         14  exploitation is devastating, particularly to older

         15  adults who have very small incomes and depend on

         16  their savings to pay for their living expenses and

         17  health care.

         18                 Tragically, financial exploitation of

         19  the elderly is not uncommon. It's difficult to

         20  detect and even more difficult to prosecute. Victims

         21  are fearful, isolated, confused and often dependent

         22  on the caregiver. Because many seniors live alone,

         23  the exploitation may not be visible to witnesses,

         24  unless a particularly alert bank teller senses that

         25  something is amiss.
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          2                 Even competent victims may be

          3  confused or have little memory of whether they sign

          4  checks. In other cases victims cannot recall whether

          5  they consented to various withdrawals or

          6  expenditures or provide meaningful testimony in

          7  court with respect to these issues.

          8                 One example of such a case is that of

          9  a 101-year-old New York County woman who suffered

         10  from senile dementia. She had 24-hour home care. Her

         11  nephew, the defendant in our case, visited her often

         12  and became involved in managing her finances.

         13                 He took responsibility for paying

         14  salaries to the victim's home aides. Ultimately, he

         15  began to withdrawal large sums of cash from his

         16  aunt's accounts. After a guardian was appointed in

         17  Civil Court, the District Attorney's Office in New

         18  York County was notified about large sums of cash

         19  that had been withdrawn from the victim's account at

         20  a time when she was clearly mentally impaired.

         21                 These transactions included daily

         22  debit card withdrawals, ATM transactions, involving

         23  hundreds of dollars per day.

         24                 Medical records and circumstantial

         25  evidence suggested that the victim's disability had
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          2  changed her personality, affected her judgment, and

          3  limited her ability to communicate in a cogent

          4  manner.

          5                 The defendant, the nephew, stated

          6  that while his aunt had certainly aged, she was not

          7  so mentally impaired that she did not understand

          8  what was happening with her finances.

          9                 He contended that much of the cash

         10  withdrawn from her account had been used to assist

         11  his sister, the defendant's ailing mother. He

         12  claimed -- I'm sorry, the victim's mother. He

         13  claimed that the victim was kept apprised of

         14  financial transactions involving her savings. When

         15  we asked him to explain the numerous ATM

         16  withdrawals, he just shook his head and ended the

         17  interview.

         18                 In this case, it was clear that the

         19  Defendant took advantage of the victim's declining

         20  mental state and depleted her accounts. The

         21  Defendant, however, claimed that the transfers were

         22  authorized, and the victim was not competent to

         23  testify to the contrary.

         24                 Our penal law is silent with respect

         25  to the issue of whether the taking of property from
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          2  mentally impaired owners of property is wrongful.

          3                 Unlike the criminal codes of most

          4  other states, the language of New York State's penal

          5  law does not specifically address thefts against

          6  victims who are mentally impaired.

          7                 Prosecutors in New York are therefore

          8  compelled to rely on case law in an attempt to

          9  charge defendants who steal from mentally

         10  incapacitated victims.

         11                 Notably, only in a small number of

         12  cases are instructive on this issue. The people of

         13  the State of New York versus Jerry Camiola, a 1st

         14  Department case, which was denied by the Court of

         15  Appeals, is one such case. In Camiola an accountant

         16  stole about $240,000 from his 80-year-old client who

         17  had become increasingly senile.

         18                 The victim suffered from delusions to

         19  the point where neighbors observed her wandering the

         20  streets in her pajamas at midday.

         21                 After the defendant was tried and

         22  convicted, the 1st Department held that a victim's

         23  mental capacity or incapacity should be assessed in

         24  determining whether there was a wrongful taking of

         25  property.
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          2                 New York's penal law should instruct

          3  that wrongfully depriving a mentally disabled or

          4  incapacitated individual of her assets is a crime.

          5  Importantly, the New York State District Attorneys

          6  Association and the New York State Law Enforcement

          7  Council support the passage of Assembly Bill 2851

          8  and Senate Bill 3279, prohibiting the wrongful

          9  taking of property from a mentally disabled or

         10  mentally incapacitated person.

         11                 The proposed statute includes

         12  language to protect legitimate caretakers,

         13  specifically stating that if the benefit received by

         14  the rightful owner of the assets is commensurate

         15  with the assets taken, that a larceny will not have

         16  occurred.

         17                 This statute would apply only when

         18  abusers steal from mentally disabled or mentally

         19  incapacitated victims who are unable to knowingly

         20  and voluntarily consent to the transfer of their

         21  assets.

         22                 This legislation would serve to

         23  protect seniors in particular, but would benefit all

         24  vulnerable adult populations in New York State.

         25                 Those who must depend on others to
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          2  manage their finances deserve special protection

          3  from the State in the form of laws that punish

          4  predatory acquaintances or unprincipled caregivers.

          5                 A clear statement in the larceny

          6  statute with respect to mentally impaired victims

          7  may even prevent this type of exploitation from

          8  happening in the first place.

          9                 Unscrupulous caregivers of seniors

         10  will be given clear and specific notice within the

         11  statute that taking property from a person who is

         12  not able to appraise the consequences of their

         13  "consent" may be charged as criminal conduct.

         14                 The law in New York already protects

         15  the mentally disabled or mentally incapacitated

         16  against sexual assault. Elderly and impaired victims

         17  of financial exploitation are no less deserving of

         18  this protection.

         19                 I would like to close with one final

         20  thought. It has been said that a society can be

         21  judged by the attention, care and respect it gives

         22  to its elderly citizens. Given the current budget

         23  crisis in New York, those of us who work with older

         24  crime victims are deeply concerned about diminishing

         25  resources being provided to support this growing
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          2  population. For far too long, old age has meant

          3  abuse and exploitation for many of our seniors.

          4  Adequate funding is crucial for us to provide the

          5  protection seniors have earned and ensure the

          6  prosecution of those who harm them. In passing this

          7  resolution, I urge this Committee to consider the

          8  significance of funding for the purpose of

          9  prosecuting these important cases.

         10                 I'd like to thank Reverend Diaz again

         11  and the Council's Committee on Aging for inviting

         12  us, me and representatives from the other District

         13  Attorneys' offices, to speak here today in support

         14  of this resolution. I'm very pleased that the

         15  Council is concerned about the issue, and I truly

         16  hope that we can continue to work together in the

         17  future to protect the elderly in New York City.

         18                 We'd be happy to answer any

         19  questions. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

         21                 I'm going to go out of the meeting,

         22  I'm going to go out of order to ask you something.

         23                 MS. LOEWY: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: How hard your

         25  office has been hit, financial, in the financial
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          2  crisis in the coffers?

          3                 MS. LOWEY: I'm sorry, I didn't hear

          4  the question.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: How hard your

          6  office has been hit in the action that goes around

          7  calling here and there, how hard has your office

          8  been hit?

          9                 MS. LOEWY: Yes, I'm not really

         10  capable of answering that question, since I'm not in

         11  my office's Budget Department.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Because you mention

         13  here that funding might deter your office by dealing

         14  with these kind of problems.

         15                 MS. LOEWY: Well, I know that we

         16  worked very closely with Aurora's agency, Ms.

         17  Solamane's agency, and other agencies in the City.

         18  We get referrals from them often, referrals from,

         19  you know, myriad social service agencies that deal

         20  with elderly victims and so they've expressed

         21  concern to us that their funding will affect the way

         22  that they can refer cases and the number of cases

         23  and the number of cases that they can refer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay, thank you.

         25                 .
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          2                 Anyone have any questions? Any other

          3  representative who have anything to say?

          4                 MS. JACKSON: Yes, I'd like to make a

          5  statement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay.

          7                 MS. JACKSON: Reverend Diaz, my name

          8  is Melissa Jackson, and members of the Committee. I

          9  want to thank you for having me here today. I'm from

         10  the Rackets Division in the Brooklyn District

         11  Attorney's Office, and I want to thank my fellow

         12  colleagues here.

         13                 Can you hear me now? Okay, great. I'm

         14  appearing on behalf of Charles J. Hynes, District

         15  Attorney in Brooklyn, and I'm pleased to be able to

         16  testify on this extremely important hearing on elder

         17  abuse legislation.

         18                 As you know, elder abuse has become a

         19  serious problem in this country and in this City in

         20  particular, because our population is aging and more

         21  and more elderly people are cared for by their

         22  family members or caregivers.

         23                 This is particularly true in Brooklyn

         24  which has a substantial number of senior citizens.

         25  With the population of nearly 2.5 million people,
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          2  Brooklyn is the seventh largest county in the United

          3  States.

          4                 Brooklyn's population is

          5  extraordinarily diverse. We have more than 100

          6  ethnic groups who speak more than 60 different

          7  languages or dialects.

          8                 I have a handout here. Mr. Ferguson

          9  has brought it. You brought it?

         10                 MR. FERGUSON: Yes.

         11                 MS. JACKSON: Thank you. I'm going to

         12  be sure you all have it.

         13                 Brooklyn's senior citizen population

         14  of 400,000 people is more than the entire population

         15  of 51 counties in this state. Some of our seniors,

         16  like seniors in rural counties, live alone in their

         17  own homes, while thousands live in rent regulated

         18  apartments.

         19                 Still others reside in Brooklyn's 60

         20  nursing homes and private adult homes which are

         21  regulated by the New York State Department of

         22  Health. With such a large senior population in the

         23  borough, seniors are the victims of every

         24  conceivable type of crime you can imagine. They run

         25  the gauntlet from violent crimes, such as robberies,
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          2  burglaries and assaults, to financial crimes such as

          3  thefts by family members or caregivers, home

          4  improvement scams and mortgage frauds.

          5                 These cases need the attention of

          6  skilled attorneys who feel comfortable working with

          7  senior citizens and who can inspire confidence in

          8  their victims.

          9                 District Attorney Hynes has developed

         10  many strategies for dealing with elder abuse in

         11  Brooklyn, including an Elder Abuse Unit in our

         12  Domestic Violence Bureau which deals with physical

         13  abuse of senior citizens by their adult children.

         14                 And a Senior Affairs Bureau, which is

         15  in the Rackets Division which I oversee, and we deal

         16  with the financial exploitation of the elderly by

         17  their family members and their caregivers.

         18                 One of our innovations has been to

         19  enlist the services of retired and semi-retired

         20  attorneys who volunteer their time to assist in

         21  elder abuse cases.

         22                 District Attorney Hynes recruited

         23  them because he believes that they could relate to

         24  and were sensitive to persons of a similar age, and

         25  make elderly victims more comfortable with criminal
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          2  proceedings. It is a sad fact that many elderly

          3  victims do not understand the criminal justice

          4  system and have no confidence in it.

          5                 In addition to the special attention

          6  that elderly victims receive in cases of serious

          7  physical abuse, our Senior Affairs Bureau handles

          8  cases of financial abuse. This bureau investigates

          9  allegations of larceny and fraud and attempts to

         10  recoup money from elderly victims whose bank

         11  accounts have been rated or whose property has been

         12  stolen by dishonest family members or caregivers.

         13                 This bureau also acts as a liaison

         14  with the City and State agencies that deal with

         15  seniors or the disabled and has been in the

         16  legislative coalition but has been urging the

         17  legislature to adopt the changes in the penal law

         18  that you are considering here today.

         19                 In spite of all of our good programs,

         20  the investigation and prosecution of crimes against

         21  the elderly is extremely difficult, because many of

         22  them have been victimized because of their frail,

         23  physical condition or deteriorated mental state.

         24                 As much as we try to prosecute cases

         25  of elder abuse, I believe that many crimes against
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          2  the elderly could be prevented if there were more

          3  safeguards in place. This legislation is one of

          4  them, and Brooklyn District Attorney's Office

          5  strongly supports the Assembly and Senate bills that

          6  are subject of your proposed resolution A.2581,

          7  S.3279. I think it is imperative that we broaden the

          8  definition of larceny to include stealing from

          9  people who are mentally incapacitated or mentally

         10  disabled.

         11                 Under current law it is very

         12  difficult to prosecute a person who transfers the

         13  property of an elderly victim or who steals money

         14  from an elderly person, because that person, whether

         15  a home care attendant or a family member, may claim

         16  that the elderly victim wanted to give them property

         17  as a gift.

         18                 We have several cases pending. Just

         19  such a scenario, one in which a house was

         20  transferred to a family member through what is known

         21  as a "forged deed," and the forgery may or may not

         22  have been with the knowing permission of the senile

         23  parent.

         24                 Another case involves thousands of

         25  dollars that were withdrawn with an ATM card from a
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          2  diminished capacity senior's checking account by a

          3  caregiver with unclear authority.

          4                 Frequently we find that the elderly

          5  victim may not be competent to testify and may have

          6  in fact consented to the transfer of the property

          7  while in a diminished state.

          8                 This proposed legislation will amend

          9  the larceny statute to make it clear that it is a

         10  crime to wrongfully take the property of a person

         11  who is mentally disabled or incapacitated. This

         12  amendment will finally give seniors a weapon where

         13  they were previously unarmed.

         14                 And I thank you for your patience in

         15  listening to me.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you. You have

         17  a question for me?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes. Mr.

         19  Chairman, I just would like to say that it's been a

         20  pleasure serving with you as a member of this

         21  Committee for over the past year and I wish you good

         22  luck in the State Senate.

         23                 I have a question that's open to any

         24  member of the panel. One, I'm just wondering if it's

         25  of concern at all that the Senate and Assembly bills
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          2  don't specifically name or mention the elderly. I

          3  know it does say mentally impaired and I know that

          4  they may be covered, but I was wondering if that was

          5  a concern.

          6                 And then secondly, if the legislation

          7  is passed, how will your ability to prosecute these

          8  acute criminals, how would your ability to prosecute

          9  them be improved?

         10                 And then thirdly, if you can just

         11  touch on how or what the sentences or potential

         12  sentences may be for the accused perpetrator? Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MR. BAKER: It's a compound question.

         15  I remember the last thing you said. I'll answer

         16  that. The level of penalty, of course, depends on

         17  the amount of theft. You know, we have larceny can

         18  be either petty, an A misdemeanor, if it's under

         19  1,000 or less, it can be an E felony if it's under

         20  3,000, a D felony if it's over 3,000, et cetera. You

         21  know, each case is different. You know, we can be

         22  dealing with cases that involve hundreds of

         23  thousands of dollars, we can be dealing with cases

         24  that involve a few thousand dollars. So, the

         25  punishment depends really on the level of the
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          2  larceny involved.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Say if we used

          4  the scenario that say the transfer of the house or

          5  real property is concerned, what would be the --

          6                 MR. BAKER: The value of the house

          7  would determine the level of charge.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.

          9                 MS. LOEWY: This would actually change

         10  the theory of larceny, in the way that it would, in

         11  the general definition in the larceny statute, this

         12  would make it clear that a wrongful taking includes

         13  the taking from an impaired person. So, it would

         14  really depend, as Mr. Baker said, what degree would

         15  depend on grand larceny 1, grand larceny 2, grand

         16  larceny 3, but this would actually amend the general

         17  larceny definition statute. So, it would really, if

         18  we had a victim who was mentally impaired, this

         19  wouldn't become an increased felony. It wouldn't go

         20  from a level 3 to a level 2 or a level 1, it would

         21  just explain the theory of larceny that we were

         22  proving.

         23                 And if I could just address some of

         24  your other little questions, and maybe you would as

         25  well, this statute was written to cover impaired
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          2  adults, and there were a couple of reasons for that.

          3  Number one is, a lot of people who are aged 60 and

          4  older are absolutely fine and competent to testify

          5  and those cases are really being handled okay right

          6  now. If the victim is 80 and does not have dementia

          7  or Alzheimers and able to testify and is competent,

          8  we usually don't have a problem going forward on

          9  those. It's the cases involving adults who are

         10  impaired, and it just so happens that once you reach

         11  older age, age 60 and up, a lot more people become

         12  demented. So the statute would not offend older

         13  people that have mental incapacity, and it would

         14  include some younger people who have mental

         15  incapacity.

         16                 And you said how would it make it

         17  easier for us? Well, right now we have nothing in

         18  New York in the larceny statute that addresses these

         19  cases. Zilch.

         20                 We go in the grand jury with case

         21  law, and if there's questions about the case law we

         22  have to, you know, work with common law which is

         23  really quite different than reading from a statute.

         24  The grand jurors know what you're doing when you're

         25  reading from a statute, versus when you're reading
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          2  from case law.

          3                 We also tracked the sex crimes

          4  statute, because right now the sex crimes statute

          5  addresses sex crimes against victims who are

          6  mentally impaired or mentally incapacitated, so we

          7  figured the larceny statute should also.

          8                 MR. BAKER: I might add, for purposes

          9  of trial, it will make the jury instructions a lot

         10  cleaner, a lot neater. Some of the difficulties we

         11  have at trial is that there's no victim ever

         12  testifying, and that can affect the jury's attitude

         13  about the case. Well, how come the victim never

         14  stepped forward? Why isn't that victim here? This

         15  helps.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So even though

         17  it doesn't mention seniors specifically, you're

         18  confident that they will be covered if the

         19  legislation is passed? That's correct?

         20                 MS. LOEWY: Absolutely.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay. Thank you

         22  very much, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you to all of

         24  you. I think your support for this bill in front of

         25  this Committee is appreciated.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 We have the last two witnesses.

          4  Evelyn Laureano from SHOPP in the Bronx; and

          5  Neighborhood Self Help by Older Persons Project,

          6  Inc., James Collins. And with that we will conclude

          7  this meeting. I see three people and they only gave

          8  me two.

          9                 MS. LAUREANO: I'm Evelyn, she's with

         10  me.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: What's that?

         12                 MS. LAUREANO: Judy is a staff worker

         13  at my agency --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Is she testifying?

         15                 MS. LAUREANO: If you ask questions,

         16  she might be helpful.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Oh, okay. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 Ms. Laureano is one of the

         20  distinguished leaders working on behalf of senior

         21  citizens in the Bronx County. I know her for many

         22  years. She's a director of a great program, and does

         23  a great service to our senior citizens and I'm proud

         24  to have you today in front of this Committee.

         25                 MS. LAUREANO: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Welcome. And please

          3  continue.

          4                 MS. LAUREANO: Thank you for inviting

          5  me. Again, my name is Evelyn Laureano and I am the

          6  Executive Director of Neighborhood SHOPP. It's a

          7  non-profit organization serving adult residents in

          8  Bronx County. Since we began in 1980, SHOPP has been

          9  providing a variety of services to low-income

         10  minority elders. SHOPP's program components include

         11  the Senior Network Group Work Program, Case

         12  Assistant SNAP Program, the Crime Victims and Elder

         13  Abuse VIP Program, the Healthy Living/Proyecto Salud

         14  Wellness Program and Transportation Services.

         15                 On behalf of my organization, I am

         16  here to support the Council's resolution calling

         17  upon the New York State Legislature to pass A.02851

         18  and S.03279 which amends the New York State Penal

         19  Law to include the crime of financial exploitation

         20  of the elderly. Our reasons for this position are

         21  based on the difficulties we confront as we work

         22  with elder abuse victims served at SHOPP's VIP

         23  Program. And I've asked Judy Ramos, who is the

         24  Social Work Supervisor for the VIP program to sit

         25  with me in case you have any questions specific to
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          2  our clients.

          3                 SHOPP's VIP Program aims to alleviate

          4  the effects of domestic violence and crime on older

          5  Bronx residents and to help prevent victimization of

          6  the elderly. The specific goals and objectives for

          7  the VIP Program are to identify, engage and assist

          8  older Bronx residents, age 60 and older, who have

          9  been victims of crime or elder abuse.

         10                 In partnership with the VIP staff,

         11  anticipated outcomes for VIP clients are that:

         12                 - older adults should have recovered

         13  from a crisis situation.

         14                 - older adults should be in a safe

         15  environment, that

         16                 - older adults should demonstrate the

         17  ability to recognize and deal appropriately with

         18  threatening situations in a manner that minimizes

         19  risk to themselves, and that

         20                 - older adults should have

         21  information about where to turn to for help.

         22                 This year SHOPP has served over 150

         23  older adults who have been victimized and many of

         24  these individuals have been financially exploited by

         25  those who they trusted. In fact, we know that elder
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          2  abuse usually presents itself in multiple forms;

          3  verbal abuse, physical violence and financial

          4  exploitation takes place concurrently in the

          5  victimization of an older person, especially if that

          6  individual is socially isolated and/or physically or

          7  cognitively impaired.

          8                 According to a report written by

          9  Rosalie Wolf on behalf of the American Society on

         10  Aging, financial crimes involving older adults is

         11  fast becoming one of the greatest law enforcement

         12  challenges and concerns of our times. As opposed to

         13  other categories of victims, older individuals are

         14  unusually susceptible to catastrophic consequences

         15  if their life savings are stolen or substantially

         16  depleted because unlike other victims, most elders

         17  are on fixed incomes and are unable to make up any

         18  losses they sustain. In addition to this, we have

         19  found that these cases are difficult to prosecute

         20  because victims may be cognitively impaired and

         21  those accused of financial exploitation often claim

         22  that property or monies in question were voluntary

         23  given to them by the victim.

         24                 Several of these cases come to our

         25  attention as a result of impending evictions due to

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  non-payment of rent. This is a red flag for the VIP

          3  staff. It usually indicates that someone who is

          4  supposed to be providing financial management is

          5  redirecting the elder's funds.

          6                 It could be a family member, a home

          7  attendant, a neighbor who hold positions of trust to

          8  benefit themselves. In the case of a family member

          9  those pose the greatest challenge because victims

         10  often may be confused, unable to remember the

         11  underlying facts, does not want to report the crime

         12  or cooperate with an investigation because he or she

         13  may be too ashamed about what occurred, desires to

         14  treat the theft as a family matter or out of

         15  compassion or guilt does not want to see the family

         16  member prosecuted and punished.

         17                 Investigations involving family

         18  members are further complicated because of the

         19  existence of long-standing complex family dynamics,

         20  sometimes coupled with substance abuse issues and

         21  other dysfunctional behavior.

         22                 The following three VIP cases

         23  illustrate the catastrophic consequences these

         24  situations can lead to.

         25                 Our first case is Jan who is a
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          2  62-year-old single woman who inherited her family

          3  home upon her mother's death. Although she was her

          4  mother's only caregiver, she managed to support

          5  herself with a part-time job as a security guard.

          6  Her brother encouraged her to take out two equity

          7  loans, totaling $186,000 on the house to finance

          8  major repairs on the home, and he requested to

          9  oversee the work.

         10                 A short time after receiving the

         11  money he disappeared, leaving Jan with an

         12  outstanding loan to pay and a house that was falling

         13  apart.

         14                 Jan became so depressed over this

         15  betrayal that she was unable to take any action and

         16  ended up losing her home through foreclosure. She is

         17  now living in a shelter lacking the emotional

         18  strength and financial resources to live

         19  independently.

         20                 The second case is Hannah, who is an

         21  83-year-old wheelchair bound widow who is being

         22  victimized by her drug-addicted daughter.

         23                 The daughter moved into Hannah's home

         24  to take care of her after she suffered a stroke.

         25  Hannah is totally incapacitated and wanted to go to
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          2  a nursing home but her daughter wanted her to stay

          3  in her apartment of 32 years.

          4                 The daughter convinced her that she

          5  could manage her finances and she arranged for a

          6  durable power of attorney. Five months later, after

          7  Hannah became suspicious of her daughter's friends

          8  who were taking over the apartment, Hannah

          9  discovered that her bills were not being paid, even

         10  though money was being withdrawn from her bank

         11  account.

         12                 In fact, she was in rent arrears for

         13  over $3,000 and had to borrow money from her church

         14  in order to avoid eviction.

         15                 She found out that her live insurance

         16  had been cashed in and her daughter admitted to

         17  using the money for cocaine.

         18                 Even though Hannah wants to get her

         19  daughter out of the apartment, she frequently gives

         20  in to her pleas to give her more time until she can

         21  get herself together and is reluctant to take action

         22  against her.

         23                 The last case is Roberto who is an

         24  89-year-old man with mild memory loss and confusion

         25  who was unaware that he had opened a bank account in
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          2  trust for his home attendant of six years. His case

          3  came to our attention after he was served with a

          4  rent arrears notice for $1,300 and he asked a friend

          5  to translate the letter for him. Although is Social

          6  Security and SSI were the only deposits ever made

          7  into the account, bank statements showed regular

          8  withdrawals of 200 to $500 several times a month

          9  were being made. His monthly income and small

         10  savings were totally depleted by the time the VIP

         11  workers were made aware of the situation. The home

         12  attendant had left the country but has since

         13  returned and has asked the home care agency to place

         14  her back with Roberto. While his case is under

         15  investigation with the Bronx District Attorney's

         16  Office, Roberto may not be able to assist due to his

         17  cognitive impairment.

         18                 We have been involved in many other

         19  cases such as these noted above. Other issues we've

         20  seen involve identity theft in which family members

         21  use the name of an older person to purchase cars or

         22  other items of value; neighbors who deplete savings

         23  accounts to purchase burial plots which never

         24  materialize; powers of attorney being obtained

         25  fraudulently, and so on. Because of legal
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          2  restraints, interventions in many of these cases are

          3  limited. For many victims, the experience of being

          4  manipulated results in shame, mistrust and

          5  debilitating depression.

          6                 Any legislation that would address

          7  the financial exploitation of the elderly would be

          8  most beneficial in curtailing this silent epidemic.

          9                 In conclusion, this resolution is

         10  needed not only to prevent and detect financial

         11  exploitation of the elderly, but to facilitate

         12  vigorous investigation and prosecution of such

         13  cases. Such a measure has the potential to serve

         14  both to reduce the incidents of elder abuse, and to

         15  increase prosecution of its perpetrators.

         16                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         17  show our support.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you. I'm very

         19  proud of you. I'm very proud of what you're doing

         20  and the program in the Bronx. I've been witness to

         21  that program for many years in the Bronx.

         22                 But let me ask you a question: You

         23  say that this case, especially the one of Roberto,

         24  you say it's being investigated by DA's Office?

         25                 MS. LAUREANO: Yes, it is.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Since when?

          3                 MS. LAUREANO: Since this summer. This

          4  summer. It came to our attention in August.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: What was the

          6  agency?

          7                 MS. LAUREANO: Neighborhood SHOPP. The

          8  home care agency?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Yes.

         10                 MS. LAUREANO: Best Care.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Were they made

         12  aware of this?

         13                 MS. RAMOS: Yes, they're very much

         14  aware of it, and when we found out about the case,

         15  she had left to Santo Domingo on a trip and during

         16  that time in Santo Domingo she was withdrawing money

         17  from his account over there, too. And from the DA's

         18  Office, that's when we contacted them, and they

         19  contacted the home care agency. And now she's back

         20  again.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I would like, when

         22  you go back to the Bronx get in contact with my

         23  office, because I would like to contact Robert

         24  Johnson on the status of that case. I think that's a

         25  clear abuse, clear abuse of a senior citizen, and I
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          2  believe he cannot go by investigating forever,

          3  something has to be done fast and soon, and that

          4  organization or that person, maybe he's working back

          5  on the case again, and nobody is take care of that.

          6  That's very shameful. That's ridiculous.

          7                 So, what about the other cases? Are

          8  the other cases being indicted or something? Anybody

          9  went to jail?

         10                 MS. LAUREANO: In the other two cases;

         11  with Jan, Jan entered the shelter system and she has

         12  since disappeared. We haven't been able to locate

         13  her. That's the lady who --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: You won't be able

         15  to locate her. What about the DA, what about the

         16  police?

         17                 MS. LAUREANO: She did not want to

         18  press charges, and so she was evicted. The APS,

         19  Adult Protective Services, is involved with this

         20  case, by the time it was referred to us, the

         21  eviction already was taking place presently.

         22                 The client has refused to press

         23  charges, and we believe that the brother has left

         24  the state.

         25                 In the other case, Hannah, Hannah
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          2  does not want to press charges. We have made home

          3  visits and called the police on the daughter in the

          4  presence of Hannah and Hannah has backed down.

          5  That's her daughter. She loves her daughter. She

          6  wants to do anything to help her daughter.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Well, that's an

          8  open case?

          9                 MS. LAUREANO: He's currently in the

         10  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: All these three

         12  cases are my constituents, right?

         13                 MS. LAUREANO: One is in co-op city.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: That's not. But

         15  nonetheless. Nonetheless, I would like to have a

         16  follow-up on these, especially the one with a

         17  District Attorney, the one that's under

         18  investigation, I would like to see that this case be

         19  clarified as soon as possible, and that these

         20  agencies don't hire a person like this anymore.

         21  Because my family runs one of these agencies, and

         22  how do we know that these home attendants aren't

         23  doing this in other agencies, and they come to my

         24  agency and our agency and do something like this?

         25  You know, that's ridiculous, okay? Thank you for
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          2  being with us, and, again, I'm very proud of you.

          3  Merry Christmas, Happy New Year.

          4                 Anyone have a question?

          5                 Let's take care of Mr. --

          6                 MR. COLLINS: Good morning, Chairman

          7  Diaz, and members of the Aging Committee. My name is

          8  James Collins. Today I have the privilege and you

          9  the benefit of my speaking in favor of this

         10  resolution in behalf of three parties; as Co-chair

         11  of the Public Policy Committee of the New York

         12  Citizens Committee on Aging; as a Volunteer of

         13  Walk-the-Walk, a community-based program serving the

         14  victims of elder abuse, and as the spouse of Dr.

         15  Patricia Brownell of the Fordham University Graduate

         16  School of Social Service, a gerontologist and US

         17  representative to the International Network for the

         18  Prevention of Elder Abuse.

         19                 Parenthetically, Dr./Reverend Diaz,

         20  all of us congratulate you on your election to the

         21  State Senate, and we look forward to working with

         22  you to advance programs and services for seniors at

         23  the state level.

         24                 The Citizens Committee on Aging this

         25  year selected elder abuse as one of its areas of

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  concern. At the October public hearings by DFTA on

          3  this annual plan, the Committee urged DFTA to

          4  advocate for congressional passage of Senator

          5  Breaux's Elder Justice bill. The Committee

          6  recommends that the Council also support this

          7  federal legislation.

          8                 The State legislation before you

          9  today that we endorse, Assembly 281 (sic), Senate

         10  3279, is an incremental policy advance to protect

         11  our most vulnerable citizens of all ages, not just

         12  seniors, from those heartless family members,

         13  caregivers and others, who would rob them of their

         14  financial security.

         15                 Now, my volunteer work at

         16  Walk-the-Walk is an administrative, not service,

         17  position, so I don't have direct client contact. But

         18  I reviewed this legislation with Elizabeth Figueroa,

         19  the Associate Executive Director for Programs. She

         20  told me that the agency works daily with clients who

         21  are the victims of financial abuse, but because of

         22  impairments, would not be good witnesses against the

         23  perpetrators. If you wish, she is willing to provide

         24  specific examples within the limits of client

         25  confidentiality, of course, of case situations where
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          2  this would be helpful. Although from the earlier

          3  testimony I heard today I don't think that's

          4  necessary but she is certainly available.

          5                 Walk-the-Walk encourages the Council

          6  to support this resolution.

          7                 Now let me give you a few numbers to

          8  supplement those provided in the Assembly's memo of

          9  justification of the bill.

         10                 The US Senate Special Committee on

         11  Aging, which Senator Breaux heads, estimates that

         12  four to six percent of the senior population are

         13  victims of elder abuse. This translates into about

         14  50,000 seniors in New York City.

         15                 Now, there are various types of

         16  abuse, physical, emotional or psychological,

         17  material or financial, as well as neglect. Studies

         18  indicate that about one-third of elder abuse cases

         19  involve financial abuse. The 1998 national elder

         20  abuse incident study reported that financial or

         21  material exploitation comprised 30.2 percent of

         22  instances of elder abuse, substantiated by adult

         23  protective services agencies.

         24                 Locally Dr. Brownell in her 1993

         25  study, Family Crimes Against The Elderly, a study of
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          2  elder abuse and the New York City Police Department,

          3  found that financial abuse, primarily grand and

          4  petty larceny, accounted for 33.6 percent of the

          5  elder abuse incidents perpetrated by family members

          6  and reported to the NYPD.

          7                 These are obviously different

          8  measures taken at different times, but I suggest

          9  that they do indicate the magnitude of the problem

         10  of financial abuse, often overshadowed by the more

         11  sensational headline stories of physical abuse of

         12  vulnerable seniors.

         13                 Now, Dr. Brownell joins the Citizens'

         14  Committee on Aging and Walk-the-Walk in supporting

         15  this resolution of the City Council. She advises us

         16  and the Council, however, to remember also that most

         17  seniors and even most victims of elder abuse are not

         18  impaired, not mentally disabled or incapacitated as

         19  defined in this legislation. This legislation is but

         20  one small step forward in the larger struggle for

         21  elder justice in this City, State and nation.

         22                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         23  speak in favor of this resolution.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you for being

         25  here, and thank you for the New York City Citizens'
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          2  Committee on Aging for supporting this resolution.

          3                 We are about to take a vote. Before

          4  taking a vote, okay?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Good morning,

          6  and thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 We seem to be focusing on after the

          8  fact; in other words, the prosecution after the

          9  crime has been committed, and I don't see us coming

         10  up with plans or anything to really prevent these

         11  seniors from being victimized.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: May I interrupt you

         13  for one minute, please?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Let me see if I

         16  could set you right, because I heard the DAs'

         17  representative saying that right now they have no

         18  tools specifically that will help them on preventing

         19  or doing, taking this to court now. With the passage

         20  of this resolution, and the passage of the two bills

         21  in the State Legislature, they will have more,

         22  better tools to prosecute the perpetrator.

         23                 The question said, the comment was

         24  that we are concentrating on what?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, after
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          2  the fact, because to me, we wait until someone

          3  create a crime and then we prosecute them. What I'm

          4  looking at is for us to come up with ways in which

          5  we can say, listen, if you're going to be a worker

          6  in this home, these are the guidelines that you have

          7  to follow, and these are the things you need to do.

          8  And if you follow those, then whether the clients

          9  cooperate or not, whether the senior center is

         10  capable of cooperating or not, that person can still

         11  be prosecuted, and that's what I'm looking at,

         12  preventing the act from happening, and I want

         13  suggestions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I agree with you. I

         15  suggest, and this is my suggestion, before I'm

         16  leaving this Committee and leaving this Council,

         17  that you introduce a legislation, and some member

         18  here, because I won't be able to do it now, on

         19  instructing the Department of the Aging or the City

         20  to create some kind of preventive measure today.

         21  We're just here to deal with this resolution and not

         22  to deal with preventive measure.

         23                 I understand what you're saying. We

         24  have to create something, some kid of guidelines,

         25  some kind of rules, but that is not this Committee.
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          2                 MR. COLLINS: Yes. May I just make one

          3  brief remark?

          4                 I know that Walk-the-Walk and I

          5  assume most community-based agencies do educational

          6  programs. They go out to senior centers and other

          7  places where seniors congregate and they educate

          8  seniors as to what elder abuse is, how to recognize

          9  it, what's happening to them and how to report it,

         10  and I think it's very important that the City

         11  Council support these community-based agencies in

         12  providing these services and not cut them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DAVIS: Again, I

         14  understand what you're saying, and it's not that I'm

         15  rushing you, I just want to keep the Committee here,

         16  in what we're doing. I don't want to go all the way

         17  to the Bronx and the City because then we're going

         18  to be here the whole day. I just want to concentrate

         19  on Resolution 546 and what we're doing today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         21  Thank you, Mr. Chair. Your focus on this is true,

         22  and you alluded to that, too, Mr. Collins, there's

         23  more to be done but we're on the right track with

         24  this. We're giving ammunition to the prosecutorial

         25  agencies and law enforcement to do something more
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          2  than they've been able to do before, as frustrating

          3  as they must have been in the situation prior to.

          4                 I'm proud to have been the prime

          5  sponsor of Reso 546. This measure encourages the

          6  State Legislature to pass the two aforementioned

          7  bills, which would broaden New York State's larceny

          8  statute by criminalizing the wrongful taking,

          9  obtaining, withholding of property by a person who

         10  knows or has reason to know that the owner is

         11  mentally disabled or incapacitated.

         12                 Since many of the people suffer from

         13  dementia and other forms of diminished mental

         14  capacity, our seniors, this amendment would largely

         15  affect them. It must also be noted that the good

         16  deal of financial abuse of the elderly occurs at the

         17  hands of their caretakers, and mentally impaired

         18  seniors must all, usually in many cases, rely upon

         19  others, which is what makes this so frustrating and

         20  so hateful. These are really not even human beings

         21  who would pray upon them.

         22                 As it stands now, there is no

         23  provision in State law for those stealing from the

         24  mentally impaired person. As a result, when a person

         25  lacks a mental capacity to assist in a criminal
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          2  investigation, or prosecution of financial

          3  exploitation, prosecutors must often close their

          4  cases, since there are rarely witnesses.

          5                 In September this Committee passed

          6  two resolutions I sponsored and the Chair was so

          7  cooperative and totally in sync with us and pushing

          8  us along or it would not have happened, which

          9  pertained to background checks of nursing homes and

         10  other caregivers of the elderly, those who work in

         11  nursing homes.

         12                 This Resolution 546 is similar in

         13  that it seeks passage of the State law that would

         14  protect these most vulnerable seniors from abuse and

         15  I urge my colleagues to also support Reso 546 so we

         16  can begin to stem the tide of this terrible crime of

         17  financial exploitation of the seniors, again

         18  necessity is the mother of intervention, there was a

         19  need for this, so it was born out of that.

         20                 And, again, I thank the Chair, and

         21  we'll all miss him very much, and Cheree' Buggs who

         22  did such a great job with this as well. Thank you.

         23  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Council Member

         25  Dilan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes, I just had

          3  one brief question as it relates to the home

          4  attendants and, you know, maybe this question might

          5  have been better since it was directed toward the

          6  Assistant District Attorneys while they were up

          7  there. But I guess if the District Attorneys will

          8  indulge my answer with a headshake positive or

          9  negative, that would be appreciative. And, of

         10  course, if you know the answer, please feel free to

         11  apply.

         12                 What legal jurisdiction do home

         13  attendants have, if any, to withdraw funds or assets

         14  from their caretakers, the person they're taking

         15  care of?

         16                 MS. LAUREANO: None whatsoever.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: None

         18  whatsoever. Unless they have power of attorney?

         19                 MS. LAUREANO: In this case the bank

         20  account was in trust for and the name of the home

         21  attendant was on the bank account.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And there's no

         23  banking, I assume no banking regulations that would

         24  prohibit that, accounts in that manner. Okay, thank

         25  you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I had a case

          3  where he was not too well, and the home care

          4  provider was having the person sign checks, which he

          5  was cashing. So, it's broader than that. They can do

          6  it. There's ways. They have ways.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I'm going to say

          8  something that maybe you people here will like

          9  coming out from me, but we are going to vote on this

         10  resolution and it is a step forward. As the Chairman

         11  of this Committee, I'm honored to have been Chairman

         12  of this Committee for one year, but something is

         13  missing here. I would like the prosecutors to

         14  looking into this, because we are looking about --

         15  we are talking about home attendants, the home

         16  attendant, someone who abuse seniors, or abuse

         17  clients. We're talking about children, sons and

         18  daughters, we're talking about families.

         19                 Let me tell you something that you

         20  have to look into, and believe me, I know what I'm

         21  talking about, and I shouldn't be saying this in

         22  here, but you got to look into ministers, rabbis and

         23  priests and churches. Because I know some seniors or

         24  some people that might be abused, could be abused by

         25  ministers, by pastors, by churches, by rabbis, by
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          2  priests. So, don't keep them out of this. Because

          3  abuse of senior citizens, taking advantage of senior

          4  citizens is a crime, is something so disgusting that

          5  any one of those should be prosecuted or punished by

          6  the full way of the law, and a senior citizen could

          7  be easily swayed into giving his or her financial

          8  resources to anyone that know how to do it, that's

          9  all.

         10                 Thank you very much. This is my last

         11  hearing. I'm leaving you. I hope that this Council

         12  Speaker chooses a new Chairman for this Committee

         13  who really cares and protect and fight for senior

         14  citizens, and keep taking this committee to

         15  boroughs, to out of the boroughs to senior citizens,

         16  and to not concentrate only here. Because other

         17  committees tend to concentrate their hearing here

         18  and they have people out there that cannot come

         19  here, especially senior citizen, and they want to

         20  hear from us.

         21                 So, I hope that the next Chairman of

         22  this Committee could continue taking this Committee

         23  out of this place to different boroughs and

         24  different ethnic groups and give the opportunity to

         25  seniors out there to testify in front of the
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          2  Committee.

          3                 With this I am saying we are ready

          4  for the vote. We're ready.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Diaz.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: May I be

         13  excused to explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Before I vote,

         16  I just want to say it's been a pleasure working with

         17  you. We look forward to you being our advocate up in

         18  Albany and whoever replaces you has big shoes to

         19  fill. I vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Mr. Chairman,

         22  may I be excused to explain my vote?

         23                 I would just like to congratulate

         24  Reverend Diaz for the great accomplishments he did

         25  with this Committee in taking it to the outer
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          2  boroughs, and for all the hard work that he

          3  advocates on behalf of all the seniors in New York

          4  City.

          5                 You will be missed but you will be

          6  representing us up in the Senate so now we know we

          7  can come knocking on your door to help us out, and I

          8  just want to thank you for all the hard work and

          9  tell you you did an excellent job. And I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Mr. Chair,

         12  may I be excused to explain my vote?

         13                 At this time I would like to thank

         14  you for being the leader you are in bringing some

         15  reverends to the City Council. We hope you get

         16  another reverend and I hope your son, or whoever is

         17  close to you, it will be that Reverend. At this time

         18  I want to thank you for being such a good leader,

         19  and I hope you continue in Albany doing what you've

         20  been doing here in Brooklyn, representing us. And

         21  with that, I vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Mr.

         24  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Mr.

          3  Chairman, I wish you all the success up in Albany

          4  and I know you'll have some difficult roles. I mean,

          5  certainly I am a republican in a body where there's

          6  47 democrats and four republicans, but I hope up in

          7  the Senate that they treat you with the same respect

          8  and dignity that you treated me on this committee,

          9  and I mean that truthfully. You really have been a

         10  wonderful chairman who is very open and forthright

         11  and I wish you a great deal of success, and on that

         12  I proudly vote aye on this resolution.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

         14  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         15  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         16  please sign the Committee report before leaving.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I wish all of you a

         19  Happy New Year, Merry Christmas. To my friend,

         20  Senior Advisor of the Committee Christopher Lynn,

         21  thank you for all your support and advice to this

         22  Committee. And with that, this meeting is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 11:45 a.m.)

         24
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